IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY KOVALESKI,)
)
Petitioner,)
)
VS.)
)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
Respondent.)
)
)

CASE NO. SC09-536

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida Criminal Justice Building/6th Floor 421 3rd Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600

TATJANA OSTAPOFF Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 224634

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the lower tribunal. Respondent, the state of Florida, was the Respondent and the prosecution, respectively. In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court.

The following abbreviations will be used in this brief:

"R"	Record proper, contained in volumes of the record on appeal which are bound at the top ("Preface"), followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers
"T"	Transcript of the proceedings on retrial, 2006, in the lower tribunal, contained in six volumes of the record on appeal ("Hearings on motions, docket calls, voir dire and jury selection, trial and sentencing" [2003-2004], Volumes 1- 6), followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers
"TT"	Transcript of proceedings surrounding Appellant's first trial in the lower tribunal, consisting of five volumes of the record on appeal ("First appearance, hearings on motions, docket calls, voir dire and jury Selection, trial and sentencing" [1998], Volumes 1-5), followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers
SR	Supplemental record, consisting of pleadings, transcript of hearing, and orders on Appellant's third and fourth motions to correct sentencing error, transferred to this cause from Case No. 4D0 ("Preface" pages1126 <i>et. seq.</i>)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was informed against for committing one or more lewd and lascivious acts upon J.L., a minor under the age of sixteen, between November 15, 1997, and January 29, 1999, when J.l.'s sex organ penetrated or had union with Petitioner's mouth (Count I) and for committing a lewd and lascivious act in the presence of J.l., a minor less than sixteen years of age, also between November 15, 1997, and January 29, 1999 (R1/8, 39-40, 49-50).

Petitioner's first trial ended with the jury's verdicts finding him guilty as charged of both counts (R1/51). He was adjudged guilty of those offenses (R1/66-67) and sentenced, consistent with the recommended guidelines sentence (R1/62-63), to concurrent terms of 138.3 months in prison followed by three years sex offender probation on each count (R1/68-71, 72-76, 78-83).

On direct appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed Petitioner's convictions on the grounds that he was denied a public trial when the trial court closed the courtroom during the alleged victim's testimony without the required hearing (R3/421-422). Kovaleski v. State, 854 So. 2d 282 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003).

Petitioner's retrial ended when the jury returned its verdicts again finding him guilty of each crime as charged (R5/936). On February 17, 2006, Petitioner was adjudged guilty of those offenses (R5/944-945). The trial court sentenced Petitioner to serve consecutive terms of fifteen years imprisonment on each count (R5/946-949, 950-954)

On appeal from this conviction and sentence, the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed Petitioner's convictions, rejecting his arguments that the trial court committed error in refusing to allow Petitioner to cross examine J.I. about a prior accusation, later withdrawn, that he had made against someone else. Its decision was largely based on its conclusion that Petitioner's failure to proffer the testimony he sought to introduce precluded the appellate court from addressing the issue. The Court also held that Section 918.16 (2), Fla. Stat., required the trial court to partially close the courtroom to everyone but the victim's family and the press even without any inquiry into the need for such closure. The decision became final with the District Court's denial of Petitioner's motion for rehearing on February 20, 2011.

Petitioner timely filed his notice seeking this Court's discretionary review on January 10, 2011. This Court accepted the instant case for review in an order dated August 2, 2011.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

J.L. was 15 years old in 1996 when he met Appellant and his wife, Missy (T4/727). When he and his mother fell out, J.L. moved in with Appellant, his wife and their three children (T4/730-731). Appellant became responsible for getting J.L. to school (T4/730).

J.L. testified that sometime after Thanksgiving, he and Missy had sex in the Appellant's bedroom while Appellant watched (T4/731-732). J.L. said that Appellant then had sex with Missy in J.L.'s presence (T4/733-734). According to J.L., the same thing happened a couple of nights later (T4/734) and again a week or a week and a half later (T4/735-736). Finally, J.L. saw Appellant, J.L., and Missy were in a hot tub. J.L. said he saw Appellant and Missy have sex while Missy performed oral sex on J.L. before Appellant took J.L.'s penis in his mouth (T4/738). J.L. then performed oral sex on Appellant (T4/739). J.L. said that he loved Missy and thought she loved him (T4/739). The two had sex twice in Appellant's absence (T4/741). Appellant would have been mad if he had known this so the couple kept it from him (T4/762). But their affair ended when he walked in on her having sex with Appellant's nephew (T4/740, 757). J.L. was upset and moved out of the house (T4/740). He was also upset with Appellant for calling a truant officer when J.L. refused to go to school (T4/755). J.L. reported Appellant and Missy to the police three days after moving out (T4/741).

Missy Hawthorne, Appellant's wife, had divorced him and remarried at the time of Appellant's second trial (T4/776). According to her, her affair with J.L. began sometime in November, 1996, before Thanksgiving when she, Appellant, and J.l. were in the hot tub and then proceeded to Appellant's bedroom where she performed oral sex on J.L. while having sex with Appellant and then she performed oral sex on Appellant while J.L. had sex with her (T4/778). Then Appellant had oral sex on J.L. while she watched (T4/778). Missy said that she and J.L. had sex three times in Appellant's presence and Appellant performed oral sex on J.L. twice (T4/779).

J.L. told Missy that he loved her, and she told him that she loved him (T5/835). Missy admitted that J.L. surprised her when she was having sex with Appellant's nephew, who was less than eighteen years old (T5/826-827).

After Missy was arrested, the police asked her to wear a recording device and speak with Appellant about having sexual intercourse with J.L. (T4/780). The recording of this conversation was introduced into evidence (T4/782). During the recorded conversation, Appellant told Missy to just deny everything (T4/792). He was the one that the police were really after (T4/795). "We've got the letters. The boy was in love with you. We tried to help him" (T4/797). Appellant asked Missy if she thought that he would "admit to sucking a dick to anyone?" (T4/798).

As a result of her actions in this case, Missy pled guilty to and was convicted of one count of performing a lewd act on a child, with the understanding that she would testify against Appellant and that she would be sentenced to between twelve and 35 months incarceration (T4/775, 5/831). Despite her admissions to other sex acts with minors,¹ the State also agreed that she would not be charged with any other offenses (T5/827). Missy was ultimately sentenced to one year in jail followed by probation (T5/832). She was not sent to prison and had already served her term by the time of the retrial, although she was still on probation (T5/832-833). Had all of her scoreable offenses been included in her sentencing guidelines scoresheet, her recommended sentence would have been some 308 months in prison (T5/834).

Teresa [Blanton] Luna, Missy's sister (T5/843) testified that after being arrested, Appellant told her that Missy fantasized about having sex with two men. The first incident happened in the bedroom after the couple was in the hot tub with J.L. Then J.L. performed oral sex on Appellant and Appellant then performed oral sex on J.L. (T5/843). Appellant agreed that Missy had sex with both of them (T845).

Appellant testified in his own behalf that J.L. was placed in his custody after J.L.'s mother had disciplinary problems with him and could not get him to go to school (T5/882-883). Appellant categorically denied having three-way sex with Missy and J.L. (T5/886). He denied performing oral sex on J.L. (T5/887). He knew that J.L. had

¹ Missy admitted that she also had sex with Brian McKee (T5/817). The State's objection to testimony that McKee was fifteen or sixteen years old (T4/820) was sustained (T5/825).

fallen in love with Missy (T5/896). J.L. was mad at Appellant because Appellant was trying to make him go to school and had reported his truancies and curfew violations to the Department of Juvenile Justice (T5/890, 893-894, 897).

Appellant testified that Missy's mother had physically abused his children (T5/889), and he and Missy were in a dispute about their custody (T5/890). Appellant found out during a dependency investigation that Missy had had sex with his nephew (T5/890). He told Missy that he was going to "cover up for my wife's activity" by denying everything and placing the blame on J.L.'s love for her (T5/910).

Appellant stated that Maritza Anderson, a pregnant fourteen-year-old girl, also stayed at his house (T5/884), but not at the same time as J.L. Maritza Anderson testified that Appellant took care of her when she was fourteen, pregnant, and homeless (T5/928). "Basically, he was my father" (T5/929).

Maritza knew J.L. from when the two of them were younger (T5/928). But she did not stay at Appellant's house at the same time that J.L. was living there (T5/933). After J.L. left to live in Live Oak, Maritza asked him if it was true that he and Appellant had sex (T5/931). "He said he didn't have sex with Tony, he had sex with Missy" (T5/931). "Missy was having sex with all the young boys that were around the house," but Appellant was "Absolutely not" involved (T5/931).

In rebuttal, J.L. testified that although he and Maritza had been "pretty good friends" since they were both fourteen, he had never talked with her about Appellant

performing oral sex on J.L. or the facts of this case (T5/955-956). The trial court sustained the State's objection to Appellant questioning J.L. about prior accusations of sexual misconduct he had made against someone else but had later withdrawn (T5/956).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The United States Supreme Court has consistently declined to distinguish between partial and complete closures of trial in reviewing challenges based on the right to a public trial. It has also rejected statutes which purport to grant a blanket right to closure in the absence of any particularized inquiry. The decisions of state and federal courts refusing to diminish the constitutional protection where a trial is partially closed are thus the better reasoned and should be followed. Because the courtroom at Petitioner's second trial was partially closed over Petitioner's objection without conducting any hearing, Petitioner's conviction must likewise be reversed and this cause remanded for a new trial.

2. Where the substance of excluded testimony is clear from the context of the questions, a proffer is not required in order to preserve the issue for appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN CLOSING APPELLANT'S TRIAL TO ALL BUT FAMILY AND PRESS BASED SOLELY ON SECTION, WITHOUT CONDUCTING ANY INQUIRY INTO THE NEED FOR CLOSURE AS REQUIRED IN WALLER V. GEORGIA, 467 U.S. 39 1992).

Accused persons are guaranteed the right to public trial under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, as well as Article I, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution. The right reflects our belief that "judges, lawyers, witnesses, and jurors will perform their respective functions more responsibly in an open court than in secret proceedings." <u>Waller v. Georgia</u>, 467 U.S. 39, 46 n. 4, 104 S.Ct. 2210, 81 L.Ed.2d 31 (1992). "The central aim of a criminal proceeding [is] to try the accused fairly" and a public trial serves the purpose of "ensuring that judge and prosecutor carry out their duties responsibly. . . , encourag[ing] witnesses to come forward and discourag[ing] perjury." *Id.* 467 U.S. at 46. The violation of the constitutional right to a public trial is a structural error, not subject to harmless error analysis. *See* <u>Neder v. United States</u>, 527 U.S. 1, 8, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999); <u>Waller</u>, 467 U.S. at 49-50 n. 9.

The United States Supreme Court recognized in <u>Waller</u> that the defendant's Sixth Amendment right may give way when other rights or interests are involved

which are essential to the fair administration of justice. However,

The presumption of openness may be overcome only by an overriding interest based on findings that closure is essential to preserve higher values and is narrowly tailored to serve that interest. The interest is to be articulated along with findings specific enough that a reviewing court can determine whether the closure order was properly entered.

<u>Waller</u>, 467 U.S. at 44. <u>Waller</u> therefore established a four-part test for use by the trial court in determining whether closure of a trial is constitutionally justified: (1) the party seeking closure must state an overriding interest that is likely to be prejudiced; (2) the closure must be no broader than is necessary to protect compelling State interests; (3) the trial judge must consider reasonable alternatives to closure; and (4) the trial judge must make findings adequate to support the closure. <u>Waller</u>, 467 U.S. at 48

At Petitioner's first trial, the trial court partially closed² the courtroom during the

Under the case law, a total closure of the courtroom is one in which only the actual trial participants remain: judge, jury, essential personnel, parties, lawyers, and the witness who is testifying. *See Douglas v. Wainwright*, 739 F.2d 531, 532 (11th Cir.1984).

A partial closure is one in which some spectators are allowed, in addition to the trial participants. *See Judd v. Haley*, 250 F.3d 1308, 1315 (11th Cir.2001).

Section 918.16 is a partial closure statute because it allows additional spectators to remain: newspaper reporters,

² As summarized in <u>Lena v. State</u>, 901 So. 2d 227, 229 n. 1 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005):

testimony of the alleged victim, J.L. Although Section 918.16, Fla. Stat. (1999),³ did not apply because the victim was over the age of sixteen, the trial court ordered the closure without conducting any kind of hearing. After determining that Petitioner had made a sufficient objection to the procedure, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that under <u>Waller</u>, the trial court reversibly erred in failing to conduct a hearing and make the required findings supporting its closure of the trial. <u>Kovaleski v. State</u>, 854 So. 2d 282, 284 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003). The Court in that decision noted that in <u>Pritchett</u> <u>v. State</u>, 566 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), the appellate court had "suggested that a <u>Waller</u> inquiry is required even in partial closure cases." 854 So. 2d at 284, n.1.

At Petitioner's second trial, the trial court again ordered partial closure of the courtroom pursuant to Section 918.16 (2), Fla. Stat. (2001),⁴ upon the State's request, over Petitioner's objection (T4/701).

broadcasters, the parties' immediate families or guardians, and victim or witness advocates.

 $^{^3}$ "... when any person under the age of 16 or any person with mental retardation. . . is testifying regarding any sex offense, the court shall clear the courtroom of all persons except parties to the cause and their immediate families or guardians, attorneys and their secretaries, officers of the court, newspaper reporters, broadcasters, court reporters, and, at the request of the victim, victim or witness advocates designated by the state attorney's office."

⁴ "(2) When the victim of a sex offense is testifying concerning that offense in any civil or criminal trial, the court shall clear the courtroom of all persons upon the request of the victim, regardless of the victim's age or mental capacity, except that parties to the cause and their immediate families or guardians, attorneys and their

The statute is quite clear, I'm obligated if requested, which I've done on behalf of the victim, to clear the courtroom when he comes in to testify and while he's testifying, except parties to the cause, their immediate families or guardians, attorneys and their secretaries, officers of the court, jurors, newspaper reporters or broadcasters, court reporters and at the request of the victim, victim or witness advocates designated by the State Attorney may remain. So if you're not one of those persons that I just read off, when Mr. [L.]. . . comes in to testify, I'm going to have you all wait out here in the hallway while he's testifying. The law requires it. . .

(T4/703). J.L. was 23 at the time of Petitioner's retrial.

Petitioner's second trial judge therefore committed precisely the same reversible error as his first trial judge. Yet the Fourth District Court of Appeal declined to apply the same sanction. <u>Kovaleski v. State</u>, 1 So. 3d 254 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009). This time, it aligned itself with the Fifth District Court of Appeal which, in <u>Clements v. State</u>, 742 So. 2d 338 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) *review dismissed* 782 So. 2d 868 (Fla. 2001); *accord* <u>Hobbs v. State</u>, 820 So. 2d 347, 349 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002) *review dismissed* 863 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 2003), held that <u>Waller</u> is inapplicable to a partial court closure by operation of Section 918.16, Fla. Stat. Clements reasoned:

> The Legislature, by enacting section 918.16, has found that there is a compelling state interest in protecting *younger children or any person with mental retardation* while

secretaries, officers of the court, jurors, newspaper reporters or broadcasters, court reporters, and, at the request of the victim, victim or witness advocates designated by the state attorney may remain in the courtroom."

This section was enacted in Laws 1999 ch. 99-157 §1, effective July 1, 1999.

testifying concerning a sexual offense. Accordingly, section 918.16 is narrowly drawn to ensure that a defendant's right to an open trial is protected. It requires partial closure only during the limited time in which a child under sixteen years of age or a mentally retarded person is to testify about a sex offense. The spectators who are temporarily excluded from the proceeding are only those with no direct interest in the case. The press, as the eyes and ears of the public, is allowed to remain. As the public's proxy, the presence of the press preserves a defendant's constitutional right to a public trial. Per section 918.16, Florida Statutes, which, we note, Clements has not challenged as unconstitutional, the idly curious were properly ordered from the courtroom.

<u>Clements</u>, 742 So.2d at 341-42 (emphasis added).

The <u>Clements</u> court based this conclusion on the "compelling state interest in protecting younger children or any person with mental retardation while testifying concerning a sexual offense." That factor, of course, cannot be a consideration in the instant case, where the alleged victim was 23 years old at the time of trial and there was no showing that he ever suffered any mental trauma whatsoever (other than that of any suitor rejected in love by the object of his desire) as a result of the events leading to Petitioner's conviction.

<u>Clements'</u> broad exclusion of Section 918.16-inspired trial closure from the protection of the Sixth Amendment has been explicitly rejected by the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Alonso v. State</u>, 821 So. 2d 423 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002); *see also* <u>Lena</u> <u>v. State</u>, 901 So. 2d 227, 230 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005) ("where the excluded persons have no alternative means to see or hear the testimony contemporaneously – this court has taken the position that the four-part *Waller* test must be satisfied").

<u>Alonso</u> recognized that the United States Supreme Court has held that the automatic application of a statute of this general type violates the United States Constitution. <u>Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court</u>, 457 U.S. 596, 102 S.Ct. 2613, 73 L.Ed.2d 248 (1982),⁵ in which the United States Supreme Court stated:

We agree with appellee that the first interest – safeguarding the physical and psychological well-being of a minor is a compelling one. But as compelling as that interest is, it does not justify a *mandatory* closure rule, for it is clear that the circumstances of the particular case may affect the outcome of the interest. A trial court can determine on a case-by-case basis whether closure is necessary to protect the welfare of a minor victim. Among the factors to be weighed are the minor victim's age, psychological maturity and understanding, nature of the crime, the desires of the victim, and the interests of parents and relatives. [The statute], in contrast, requires closure even if the victim does not seek the exclusion of the press and general public, and would not suffer injury by their presence.

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