IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-536

ANTHONY KOVALESKI,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PAMELA JO BONDI

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 0656879

KATHERINE Y. MCINTIRE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0521159 1515 North Flagler Drive Suite 900 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Counsel for Respondent

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

closure is applied pursuant to §918.16(2), Florida Statutes.

Compliance with the statute would necessarily yield to a finding that Waller's pre-requisites have been addressed prior to closure. A trial court's act of memorializing such a finding would be useless ceremony and wholly unnecessary.

IN LIGHT OF §918.16(2)'S LANGUAGE, CLEMENTS V. STATE WAS CORRECTLY DECIDED

The Fifth District recognized the unique language of §918.16(2), Florida Statutes and addressed its significance in Clements v. State, 742 So.2d 338 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) review dismissed 782 So.2d 868 (Fla. 2001). In Clements, the appellant faced charges of sexual battery on a child under 12 and three counts of lewd acts upon a child. On appeal, Clements challenged the trial court's act of clearing the courtroom during his victim's testimony pursuant to §918.16(1)¹, Florida Statutes. Clements argued that his case was controlled by Pritchett v. State, 566 So.2d 6 (Fla. 2d DCA), review dismissed, 570 So.2d 1306 (Fla. 1990) and Thornton v. State, 585 So.2d 1189 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). Clements, 742 So.2d at 340.

At the outset, the <u>Clements</u> court distinguished <u>Pritchett</u>

¹ Section 918.16(1), Florida Statutes (1987) provided: In the trial of any case, civil or criminal, when any person under the age of 16 is testifying concerning any sex offense, the court shall clear the courtroom of all persons except parties to the cause and their immediate families or guardians, attorneys and their secretaries, officers of the court, jurors, newspaper reporters or broadcasters, and court reporters.

and <u>Thornton</u> based upon the fact that in those cases, the trial courts cleared the courtroom of all spectators, without any exceptions authorized under the statute. <u>Id.</u> This distinction, however, did not end the analysis. <u>Id.</u> The <u>Clements</u> court would also have to determine whether the partial closure, absent an independent <u>Waller</u> inquiry, violated Clements' right to a public trial. <u>Id.</u>

The <u>Clements</u> court determined that a separate <u>Waller</u> inquiry is not required when a partial closure is ordered under §918.16(1), Florida Statutes. In support of this determination, the Clements court explained:

[t]he Legislature, by enacting section 918.16, has found that there is a compelling state interest in protecting younger children or any person with mental retardation while testifying concerning a sexual offense. Accordingly, section 918.16 is narrowly drawn to ensure that a defendant's right to an open trial is protected. It requires partial closure only during the limited time in which a child under sixteen years of age or a mentally retarded person is to testify about a sex offense. The spectators who are temporarily excluded from the proceeding are only those with no direct interest in the case. The press, as the eyes and ears of the public, is allowed to remain. As the public's proxy, the presence of the press preserves a defendant's constitutional right to a public trial. Per section 918.16, Florida Statutes, which, we note, Clements has not challenged as unconstitutional, the idly curious were properly ordered from the courtroom.

Clements, 742 So.2d at 341.

In sum, the Clements court determined that the language of

§918.16(1), Florida Statutes was narrowly drawn in a manner where it complied with <u>Waller</u> concerns. Accordingly, a separate <u>Waller</u> inquiry was not necessary as long as the closure was sought under, and complied with the language of, §918.16(1), Florida Statutes.

ALONSO V. STATE AND PRITCHETT V. STATE MUST BE DISAPPROVED

Despite the sound reasoning of <u>Clements</u>, Petitioner implores this Court to approve the decisions by the Third District in <u>Alonso v. State</u>, 821 So.2d 423 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) and Second District in <u>Pritchett v. State</u>, 566 So.2d 6 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). In those cases, the district courts determined that regardless whether a closure is total or partial, the trial court must find that the closure is necessitated by a compelling government interest and is narrowly tailored to serve that interest through a Waller inquiry.

Inasmuch as the general proposition is concerned, Respondent does not necessarily disagree. Indeed, it seems clear that if a trial court imposes a closure, total or partial, under any situation other than what is specified in \$918.16, Florida

Statutes, a trial court must apply the Waller analysis to weigh the interest raised and tailor the closure warranted.

Petitioner cannot disagree with this statement given his acknowledgement and acceptance of a §918.16, Florida Statutes

closure during the victim's testimony at his first trial.

Kovaleski v. State, 854 So.2d 282 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003). Only when it became evident during the victim's testimony that he had turned 16 (and was no longer eligible for protection under \$918.16, Florida Statutes) did Petitioner object to a continued closure of the proceeding without a Waller inquiry. Kovaleski, 854 So.2d at 282-284. The continued closure of the victim's testimony without the benefit of a Waller inquiry was deemed reversible error. Id. Thus, at the very least during his first trial, Petitioner agreed that closures under §918.16, Florida Statutes were appropriate as long as the statute was applicable.

Notwithstanding his prior approval of a §918.16, Florida

Statutes closure, Petitioner cannot gain relief based on the erroneous positions of Alonso and Pritchett. The error in Alonso and Pritchett stems from their refusal to steer from the general proposition of Waller that any closure of a courtroom necessitates a Waller analysis without regard for the language of §918.16 and its application. This refusal ignores the backdrop of the statute's purpose.

Specifically, <u>Alonso</u> and <u>Pritchett</u>'s reasoning ignores the inherent difference between prosecuting sex crimes and other crimes. In sex cases, unlike other prosecutions, the State will always have the same interest: a victim whose privacy interest may need to be protected. The defendant, on the other hand, will

also have one interest in common: the right to a public trial. Thus, one remedy was created to address these competing interests. The legislature, in enacting §918.16, Florida Statutes, carefully crafted the briefest and most limited type of closure in order to protect the accused's right to public trial while affording the victim privacy, if warranted. The language in §918.16, Florida Statutes does not preclude or override Waller's concerns, but embraces and addresses them. The language and application, in and of itself, passes Waller muster.

Accordingly, a separate Waller analysis is unnecessary.

In further efforts to persuade this Court to adopt Alonso and Pritchett's decision, Petitioner relies on language from the United States Supreme Court's decision in Globe Newspaper and the Alaska Supreme Court in Renkel v. State, 807 P.2d 1087, 1092 (Alaska 1991) suggesting that statutes like §918.16(2), Florida Statutes are unconstitutional. Preliminarily, Respondent reminds this Court that Petitioner is not challenging the constitutionality of §918.16(2), Florida Statutes. That being said, such reliance is misplaced where the statutes featured in Globe Newspaper and Renkel called for a complete closure of proceedings from all public including press. Section 918.16(2), Florida Statutes calls for no such closure.

Respondent acknowledges <u>Globe</u>'s warning that "...a mandatory rule, requiring no particularized determination in individual

cases, is unconstitutional." Globe Newspaper, 457 U.S. at 611, n.27. Again, it is Respondent's position that §918.16, Florida Statutes does not deprive Petitioner from an analysis prior to closure but frames the analysis in its language and application.

Finally, Petitioner claims that <u>Clements</u> "is in error in applying a different standard to cases of partial rather than total closure of a trial". Initial Brief on Merits, 17.

Petitioner acknowledges that a plethora of caselaw from our State and throughout the nation specifically hold that a partial closure only calls for a "substantial" rather than "compelling" reason for closure. Initial Brief on Merits, 17.

Notwithstanding, Petitioner disagrees with this well settled proposition by relying on <u>Presley v. Georgia</u>, 130 S.Ct. 721, 175 L.Ed.2d 675 (2010). According to Petitioner, the <u>Presley</u> court "did not appear to consider that there was any distinction between total and partial closures for purposes of constitutional analysis." Initial Brief on Merits, 17. Thus, in his view, there is no distinction. Petitioner's interpretation of <u>Presley</u> is wholly unsupported.

In <u>Presley</u>, at issue was whether the Sixth Amendment right extended to jury selection and whether a court must, sua sponte, advance its own alternatives to closure. <u>Id.</u> There was no discussion of partial versus total closure². Id. Indeed, the

² One can argue that the closure was total being that the claim

Court did not even address whether the State court had an "overriding interest" in closure finding that regardless of the state's court's reasons, it was still incumbent upon it to consider all reasonable alternatives to closure. Presley, 130

S.Ct. at 725. Presley clearly does not stand for the proposition that a partial closure is subject to the same standards of a total closure. Petitioner's attempt to draw such a proposition from the Presley opinion is unpersuasive.

ERROR, IF ANY, HAS BEEN WAIVED

Assuming arguendo that there was any error in the trial court's application of §918.16, Florida Statutes, Respondent respectfully submits that Petitioner waived his right to public trial prior to the closure. Petitioner correctly points out that "[t]he violation of the constitutional right to public trial is a structural error, not subject to the harmless error analysis."

Initial Brief on Merits, 10 (citing Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 8, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999)). It is a right, however, that is subject to waiver. Levine v. United States, 362 U.S. 610, 619, 80 S.Ct. 1038, 1044, 4 L.Ed.2d 989 (1960). The failure to object to the closing of courtroom is considered a waiver of the right to public trial. Id.; Evans v. State, 808 So.2d 92 (Fla. 2001).

revolved around one "lone courtroom observer", later determined to be Presley's uncle, being asked to leave the courtroom to make space for the jury. Presley, 130 S.Ct. at 722.

In order to properly preserve an issue for appellate, an objection must be specific enough to apprise the trial judge of a putative error and give the trial court the opportunity to address the complaint. See e.g. Williams v. State, 414 So.2d 509, 511 (Fla. 1982); Luda v. State, 860 So.2d 457, 458 FN1 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003). General objections are insufficient. Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982)(objections must be made with sufficient specificity to apprise the trial court of the potential error and to preserve the point for appellate review; a general objection is insufficient). To be sure, an objection "for the record," without setting forth legal grounds, is inadequate to preserve an issue for appeal. Mansingh v. State, --- So.3d ----, 2011 WL 3754605 (Fla. 5th DCA August 26, 2011)(determining that a general objection for the record was inadequate to properly preserve his right to public trial issue raised on appeal where, although counsel objected for the record, he did not make argument or alert the trial court of Waller v. Georgia issues.).

At bar, when the State sought to have §918.16(2), Florida Statutes invoked, Petitioner's only response was, "---for the record, we object, Your Honor." (T Vol. 4, 701). Petitioner made no effort to argue his objection, cite <u>Waller</u> concerns, or at the very least, place on the record whether there were any people being asked to leave that he wanted to stay. Accordingly, as

properly observed by the Fourth District, below, Petitioner waived his right to public trial by failing to sufficiently preserve the issue for review.

THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S OPINION BELOW AND CLEMENTS MUST BE AFFIRMED

The Fourth District below, the Fifth District in Clements and the First District in Hobbs v. State, 820 So.2d 347 (Fla. $1^{\rm st}$ DCA) have correctly determined that a separate Waller inquiry is not required when the trial court follows section 918.16 to achieve a partial closing. Section 918.16(2), Florida Statutes's language clearly balances the two interests involved in prosecuting a sex crime: the State's interest in protecting the victim of such a humiliating crime from further embarrassment and a defendant's Sixth Amendment interest. The application of the statute does nothing to abridge the defendant's right to a public Instead, its language goes to great lengths to ensure trial. that his constitutional right is scrupulously honored by considering Waller type concerns and providing for a closure that satisfies these concerns. Indeed, the statute provides for a closure that allows the victim's delicate testimony to proceed, not in secret, but under the watchful eyes of a defendant's family, his attorneys, his attorney's assistants and the media. Respondent would venture to say these members of the public, specifically, would act "to safeguard against any attempt to

employ our courts as instruments of persecution". <u>In Re Oliver</u>, 333 U.S. 257, 270, 68 S.Ct. 499, 92 L.Ed. 682 (1948).

Accordingly, the lower court's decision below and that of the Fifth District's in <u>Clements</u> must be approved.

POINT II

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT A PROFFER WAS NECESSARY UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE TO PROPERLY PRESERVE PETITIONER'S CHALLENGE TO THE EXCLUSION OF TESTIMONY. THE SUBSTANCE OF THE EXCLUDED TESTIMONY WAS NOT APPARENT FROM THE CONTEXT WITHIN WHICH IT WAS OFFERED (RESTATED)

In his defense, Petitioner called witness Maritza Anderson (T Vol. 5, 927). Anderson testified that victim J.L. told her that he did not have sex with Petitioner; he had sex with Missy Kovaleski (T Vol. 5, 927). Victim J.L. was recalled as a rebuttal witness after the close of Petitioner's case (T Vol. 5, 955). J.L. testified that he knew Maritza Anderson - they were friends when he was about fourteen (T Vol. 5, 955). He did not discuss personal matters with her (T Vol. 5, 956).

During rebuttal cross-examination, Petitioner questioned without preface or provocation: "Did you ever make an accusation about someone else having sex with you and later withdraw it?" (T Vol. 5, 956). The State objected that the question was beyond the scope of the rebuttal direct examination (T Vol. 5, 957).

The trial court sustained the objection on the State's basis as well as "improper impeachment and/or irrelevant and/or extrinsic evidence of a collateral matter." (T Vol. 5, 957).

Petitioner concedes that under <u>Pantoja v. State</u>, 59 S.3d 1092 (Fla. 2011) "it appears that the trial court correctly excluded the cross examination about J.L.'s withdrawn report of sexual abuse on the merits". Initial Brief on Merits, 24. Notwithstanding, Petitioner argues that the portion of the Fourth District's decision on preservation should be reversed. According to Petitioner, the Fourth District's decision is in conflict with the holdings in <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 401 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), O'Shea v. O'Shea, 585 So.2d 405 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), <u>Pacifico v. State</u>, 642 So.2d 1178 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), and <u>G.A. v. State</u>, 549 So.2d 1203 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) that a proffer is unnecessary where the substance of the excluded testimony is apparent from the context within which it was offered. Petitioner's position is wholly without merit.

Respondent agrees, as did the Fourth District below, that a proffer is unnecessary where the substance of the excluded testimony is apparent from the context within which it was offered.

Reaves; Kovaleski, 1 So.3d at 256. In Reaves, the trial court allowed the state to reopen its case after resting in order to call an additional rebuttal witness, one Charles Cannon, to rebut co-

defendant Soto's defense of entrapment³. Reaves, 531 So.2d at 402-403. Cannon testified that Soto was involved in a prior drug transaction, testimony which was admissible as tending to show predisposition and thereby disproving entrapment. Id. After Cannon's testimony, Soto's trial counsel requested the opportunity to present surrebuttal evidence. This was denied by the trial court. Id.

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